







Macroeconomy, Economic Bias & Employment

The Institutional Underpinnings of the Unemployment-inflation Relationship:

A Review Paper

Jonathan Michie
October 2003



THE INSTITUTIONAL UNDERPINNINGS OF THE UNEMPLOYMENT-INFLATION RELATIONSHIP: A REVIEW PAPER

Jonathan Michie

University of London

October 2003



Human Sciences Research Council

October 2003

I am grateful for advice and suggestions from Dr Miriam Altman, Jackie Cook, Dr Evan Gilbert, Dr Simon Roberts and Professor Vishnu Padayachee. I have also drawn on work undertaken jointly with Professor Frank Wilkinson. Comments and suggestions welcome.

Produced by: Prof Jonathan Michie

Contact: Dr Miriam Altman

Executive Director, EGDI

E-mail: maltman@hsrc.ac.za
Tel: +27 12 302 2402

Contents

Boxes.		3
Execut	tive summary	4
1. W	That does economic theory say about the inflation-unemployment relation?.	7
1.1	Keynesianism and the Philips Curve	7
1.2	Monetarism and the 'natural rate'	10
1.3	The Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment (NAIRU)	14
1.4	Beyond NAIRU	16
2. W	hat does policy experience tell us?	18
2.1	Labour market segmentation	19
2.2	Competition policy and regulated prices	20
3. Tł	he specifics of South Africa	22
3.1	Unemployment, wage growth and productivity	23
3.2	Investment and productive capacity	24
3.3	Interest rates, investment and demand	24
4. Po	olicy implications	28
4.1	Policies to contain short-term inflationary pressures	28
4.2	Policies to boost productivity and expansion	29
5. Fu	arther research	32
6. Co	onclusions	33
Box	xes	
Box 1:	The Philips Curve	8
Box 2:	The 'natural rate of unemployment'	11
	The Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment	



Glossary of terms

ABSA Amalgamated Banks of South Africa Co-operative A company owned by its members (consumers or employees) FDI Foreign Direct Investment **GDS** Growth & Development Summit High Commitment Work Systems HRM practices that deliver higher productivity HRM Human Resource Management IDC Industrial Development Corporation Keynesianism Expected demand determines output and employment Vertical Phillips curve at point that markets clear Natural rate of unemployment Vertical Phillips curve caused by wage and price setting NAIRU Belief that inflation is caused by money supply growth Monetarism NGOs Non-Governmental Organisations Phillips curve Trade-off between unemployment and inflation Product innovation Introduction of a new product (good or service) Process innovation Introduction of a new way of organising production R&D Research & Development SARB South African Reserve Bank Social Enterprise A company with a social purpose Third Sector Co-operatives, NGOs, social enterprises and charities

Executive summary

The Phillips curve depicted a trade-off between unemployment and inflation. As the economy grows faster and unemployment falls, it becomes easier for workers to gain wage rises and for firms to raise prices – either to pass on increased costs or even to raise profit margins. This is particularly so if bottlenecks occur because of insufficient capacity. If there is a shortage of a particular type of skilled labour, for example, then their wage rates are likely to be bid up as firms compete to attract and retain them. If demand outstrips supply for office or other space, rents will be bid up. And so on. The key to achieving sustainable, non-inflationary growth is to ensure that industrial and economic capacity expands in line with demand. This Phillips curve relation underpinned public policy during the 1960s and 1970s.

This was replaced in the 1980s by monetarism and the associated 'natural rate of unemployment' which posited no trade-off between unemployment and inflation over the long run. Any such trade-off would be a short-term effect, whereby lowering unemployment below its natural rate would lead not just to higher inflation but to accelerating inflation. Weaknesses in the theory and problems with the practice led to the abandonment of what might be termed this 'Friedmanite' monetarist approach. It was replaced by the 'Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment' (NAIRU). Like the natural rate and unlike the original Philips curve, the NAIRU was taken to be vertical, allowing only one rate of unemployment at which inflation would be stable. But like the original Philips curve, and unlike the natural rate, the theoretical framework for NAIRU recognised that wage and price setting are influenced by market structure and bargaining power. The NAIRU approach thus puts more emphasis on how policy might shift the NAIRU, rather than accept it as 'given'.

The move from the natural rate to the NAIRU recognised that the labour market is segmented and that active labour market policies can reduce unemployment without necessarily creating inflationary pressures, and that competition policy can put downward pressure on prices.

The June 2003 GDS agreed a target of halving unemployment by 2014. How can the necessary degree of investment be achieved? To answer this question, research is needed into:

- The mechanisms whereby increased interest rates impact on the economy;
- How corporate investment decisions could be influenced to enhance productive capacity; and
- Research on key industries to determine the degree of market concentration, and the implications of any such concentration on pricing decisions.
- High level institutional interface, particularly between Treasury and the Reserve Bank in relation to expected stimulatory policy, possible price effects and appropriate responses.



A better-trained workforce combined with an appropriate organisation of work can usually improve organisational performance. And if the workforce is committed and motivated, productivity will be further raised. For this to translate into output and employment gains requires demand to rise faster than productivity. And for this to be combined with stable or falling inflation requires cost-absorbing new capacity and innovation. To be sustainable, the country's productive infrastructure needs to be continually renewed. This links to education, housing, FDI, entrepreneurship and an almost endless range of inherently inter-related economic and social factors. The key point is to understand that these links are there, and that they ought properly to be the focus of active and joined up policy development. Within this context, detailed research and policy work is necessary to advance our knowledge and understanding of how such policy can best be developed in each of these areas within the context of current day South Africa.

1. What does economic theory say about the inflation-unemployment relation?

There is no clear consensus within economic theory about the inflation-unemployment relation. In so far as there has been a dominant view, this itself has altered over time. As for the theory that informs the anti-inflation activities of central banks, this is rarely made explicit. Thus, for example, when the SARB raises interest rates in the face of inflationary concerns, is this in order to reduce the money supply which is thought to be a direct determinant of inflation, or is it to reduce consumer and/or investment demand and hence slow down the economy, or are other causal processes believed to be at play?

This section sets out the causal processes that economic theory has posited as underpinning the unemployment-inflation relationship over the past few decades. The reason for surveying these issues over time is firstly that it helps to illustrate the different sorts of linkages that might be at play. And secondly because there has not been a simple progression of theoretical advance over time, with the later theories being more useful or realistic than the previous ones. On the contrary, were the SARB for example to set out the thinking behind their policy actions, it would likely have more in common with the Philips curve thinking of the 1960s and 1970s than with the 'natural rate of unemployment' and accompanying monetarist beliefs that was dominant during the 1980s. That approach in turn gave way to the 'Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment' (NAIRU) approach. This section will describe each of these approaches in turn: the Philips curve, the natural rate, and the NAIRU.

1.1 Keynesianism and the Philips Curve

During the Keynesian consensus of the 1960s, the macroeconomic role of governments was generally thought to be to maintain full employment and stable inflation, along with economic growth, balanced trade, the provision of welfare state services, and possibly some redistributive (egalitarian) goals. The key beliefs as regards the unemployment inflation relationship were firstly, that it was possible to achieve both goals – to achieve and maintain full employment, without inflation accelerating; and secondly, that there was some degree of trade-off, but within acceptable ranges as regards both unemployment and inflation. In other words, it was thought possible to eliminate unemployment whilst maintaining broadly stable inflation rates.



Box 1: The Philips Curve

The Philips curve plotted the rate of unemployment each year with the rate of (either wage or price) inflation experienced that year. When first plotted by Professor Philips (of the LSE), it appeared as a downward sloping curve with unemployment on the horizontal axis. This was interpreted as representing a trade-off that governments faced, able to reduce inflation at the expense of higher unemployment, or to cut unemployment at the cost of higher inflation.

For a discussion of the literature, see Jossa (2001).

Of course, even during this era of full employment, there was always some degree of registered unemployment. To some degree this was just the inevitable 'frictional' unemployment as people moved from job to job, sometimes with a period of unemployment in between. There might be more serious 'pockets' of unemployment in certain regions, but this was regarded as a problem for regional policy to tackle. The 'demand deficient' unemployment of the 1930s, where people were unemployed because the level of aggregate demand in the economy was below that required to fully employ the workforce, was thought to be a thing of the past.

In this context, if inflation rose, it was interpreted in one of two ways. Firstly, it might be due to some exogenous factors – such as increased international raw material prices - that would either pass or could be dealt with. Or secondly, if there was persistent inflationary pressure, then this would be interpreted as evidence that the economy was overheating, with 'over-full' employment. Keynes had spelled out the policies that would be required to maintain full employment. But he had also stressed the importance of preventing aggregate demand from rising above its full-employment level, as this would lead to inflation.

Such inflation was thus interpreted as having been caused by the economy having moved up the Philips curve to the left, with higher inflation and lower unemployment. What was needed in such a situation was to move back down the Philips curve to the right, to the previous levels of unemployment and inflation.

This trade-off between unemployment and inflation was depicted by the Philips curve, following Philips (1958) having plotted unemployment against the rate of (money wage) inflation for the UK. Philips actually used pre-First World War data to construct the curve which was then superimposed on the inter-war data which fitted, although in a clustered fashion with the data from the 1920s generally above the curve and the data for the 1930s generally below. Lipsey (1960) did test for inter-war data, but without significant results for unemployment.¹

¹ See Michie (1987), which discusses this in more detail.

Interestingly, though, the impact that this view of the world had on policy responses to either inflation or unemployment tended not to be for governments to simply choose to move to a different point on the given trade-off curve. In other words, were inflation to rise, it might be thought that the Philips curve model would suggest that this must be due to the economy having moved up the Philips curve to the left, so the policy response should be to move the economy back down to the right, increasing unemployment, as described above. The existence of the Philips curve tended not to be interpreted so mechanistically. This may be in part because reality never did fit the curve particularly closely. Thus, if inflation rose, it would often be the case that there would have been no concomitant fall in unemployment. Instead, it would be seen to have been caused by a rise in international fuel prices, or in wages, or in taxes imposed by Government. Policies would therefore tend to be introduced to tackle these problems directly, without seeking to raise the rate of unemployment in search of a new 'trade-off' point. Thus, particularly in the UK of the 1960s and 1970s, prices and incomes policies might be introduced, whereby wage rises would be limited to a certain ceiling, possibly with additional payments allowed if matched by productivity gains (so that unit labour costs did not rise), and likewise firms would be forbidden from raising prices by more than some prescribed percentage.

In other words, if inflation began rising, the policy reaction would be to attempt to restrain inflation directly, through prices and incomes policy, rather than to allow unemployment to rise. The exception was if the economy was thought to be genuinely over-heating, with over-full employment, in which case monetary and/or fiscal measures would be used to slow down the economy and allow employment to fall back to its 'full-employment' level.

Thus, the policy for maintaining full employment was broadly believed to be to maintain levels of aggregate demand sufficient to ensure that the available workforce was fully employed. In addition, it was thought likely that some unemployment would be caused by regional problems and industrial restructuring, and that this should be tackled through targeted regional and industrial policies. If demand deficient unemployment was thought to also be appearing, then Government would take policy action to boost demand. This might include fiscal policy and interest rate policy, but would not be limited to these. It would also include, for example, regulatory changes to affect how easily consumers could buy goods on credit.

Likewise with inflation, if this rose, the response was not always to increase interest rates with a view to slowing down the economy and thus increase unemployment, in order to move to a new unemployment-inflation trade-off. On the contrary, inflation would be targeted directly, for example through prices and incomes policies that put a ceiling on how far firms would be permitted to increase prices. Several versions of prices and incomes policies were introduced by successive Labour and Conservative governments in Britain during the 1960s and 1970s. The shift to monetarism in the 1980s saw the end of such policies. Generally, these prices and incomes policies would start with a freeze on increases in wages or prices, for say 6 months, in order to break any inflationary spiral. This would then be followed by a policy whereby wages could only be increased by either some flat rate or percentage amount, or in some



cases a mixture of the two. Generally, wage rises above these limits would be allowed if accompanied by productivity deals. Provided productivity rose, then the increased wage would not necessarily increase unit labour costs, or prices.²

To the extent that such policies were effective, in either reducing inflation without increasing unemployment, or reducing unemployment without increasing inflation, then clearly this would affect the shape of any Philip curve. In practice, in times of low unemployment there would still be higher inflation than in times of higher unemployment. But to the extent that prices and incomes policies were effective, lower unemployment could be achieved without inflationary pressures rising by the degree they otherwise would. In other words, the Philips curve would be that much flatter, moving up to the left.

The reason why there would be a trade-off at all, is that when the economy grows faster and unemployment falls, it becomes easier for workers to gain wage rises and for firms to raise prices – either to pass on increased costs or even to raise profit margins. This is particularly so if bottlenecks occur because of insufficient capacity. If there is a shortage of a particular type of skilled labour, for example, then their wage rates are likely to be bid up as firms compete to attract and retain them. If demand outstrips supply for office or other space, rents will be bid up. And so on. The key to achieving sustainable, non-inflationary growth is to ensure that industrial and economic capacity expands in line with demand.³

1.2 Monetarism and the 'natural rate'

The first Thatcher Government was elected in Britain in 1979 on the promise of squeezing inflation out of the system. The policy instrument for doing this was to be control of the money supply. The theoretical framework was Milton Friedman's monetarism and associated 'natural rate of unemployment'. This posited that there was no Philips-curve trade-off between unemployment and inflation over the long run. Any such trade-off would be a short-term effect, whereby lowering unemployment below its natural rate would lead not just to higher inflation but to accelerating inflation. Since accelerating inflation is not sustainable, unemployment would need to be allowed to increase back to the natural rate to bring the rate of growth of inflation back to zero. And to reduce the rate of inflation itself (as opposed to its rate of growth), unemployment would have to rise above the natural rate.

-

² For a detailed discussion of the theory and practice of incomes policies, see Parkin & Sumner (1972). For a discussion of the use of incomes policies in Argentina, Brazil and Israel, see Dornbusch and Simonsen (1992).

³ For a detailed discussion see Michie and Grieve Smith (1996).

Box 2: The 'natural rate of unemployment'

Milton Friedman argued that the Philips curve represented only a short-term trade-off. If the economy moved up a short-run Philips curve to the left, the higher inflation would then become incorporated in people's expectations which would feed into still greater inflation in the next time period, and so on, creating ever rising inflation. The only point on a Philips curve at which actual inflation would turn out as expected would be the single point, on each short-run Philips curve, at the natural rate of unemployment. Only at this natural rate, therefore, would inflation be stable.

For a discussion of the literature, see Sawyer (2001).

The reasoning was that it was only at the natural rate of unemployment that people's expectations about inflation would match the actual outcomes. If unemployment fell, then inflation would rise as one moved up the Philips curve - but crucially, this was argued to be a short-term possibility. Any given Philips curve would be based on a single expected rate of inflation - namely the rate of inflation that the (short-run) Philips curve in question demonstrated at the natural rate of unemployment. If one moved up that curve to the left, with unemployment falling below the 'natural rate', then inflation would rise above that expected rate. Once people realised that inflation was higher than they had expected, they would adjust their behaviour accordingly. In particular, they would adjust upwards their wage demands. As expectations of future inflation adjusted upwards, one would move up to a higher short-run Philips curve corresponding to this higher rate of expected inflation. So long as the rate of unemployment remained below the natural rate of unemployment, it was argued, inflation would continue to rise, with actual inflation always outstripping expectations, which in turn would be revised upwards, a process that would itself give a further upward twist to inflation.4

The record in the UK at first was at least consistent with the belief that the long-term goal of zero inflation could be achieved.5 But from mid-1983 the record deteriorated and, despite a dip in 1986, prices were on an upward trend until the end of 1990. Thatcher's premiership ended with inflation at around the same level as she inherited in 1979: the annual increase in the Retail Price Index stood at 10.3% when the first Thatcher government took office in May 1979, while when Mrs Thatcher left office in November 1990 it was 9.7%.

⁵ See Michie & Wilkinson (1992), p. 196, Figure 9.1.



⁴ For a detailed analysis and discussion of the natural rate of unemployment hypothesis, see Cross (1995).

The initial belief that targeting the growth in the money supply directly (in terms of the quantity of money) would eliminate inflation gave way to old-style policies of high interest rates and deflation combined with labour market policies to restrain wages.

Monetary targets had been used prior to 1979; indeed, they were included in the IMF's 1976 loan conditions. However, prior to 1979, in neither theoretical nor policy areas was the monetarist explanation generally accepted as being adequate on its own, and the Callaghan (Labour) government continued to rely on incomes policies as the main anti-inflationary device. Full acceptance by the government of monetarist theory and policy prescriptions came only in 1979, although even then these were pursued partly by controlling the public sector borrowing requirement; Friedman himself disowned the use of fiscal policy as the leading method of controlling the money supply and argued (before the House of Commons Treasury and Civil Services Committee) that instead the market should be left to determine the interest rate.

Policy developments under the Thatcher governments began with strict monetary targets that required public expenditure cuts. Within a year of Thatcher taking office exchange controls had been abolished, direct controls on the growth of bank deposits ('the corset') scrapped, reserve asset ratios abolished and the minimum lending rate consigned to virtual oblivion. Ironically, the original aim of the Thatcher governments to impose monetary control proved to be incompatible with the financial liberalisation which freed the banking system's money-creating potential.

The failure to achieve the money supply targets from 1979 laid the basis for increasing criticism from non-monetarists. In 1981 Desai published his *Testing Monetarism* in which he examined the major predictions of monetarism and found them to be invalid. Kaldor had continuously insisted that the money supply in modern economics is not under the control of central banks, but is determined by borrower demand for bank credit. Thus the money supply is credit-driven and the demand for bank credit is closely related to changes in business demand for working capital. Bank financing of *ex ante* net deficit spending in the economy permits aggregate demand to grow. This view became increasingly acceptable publicly. Dow and Saville, leading advisors to the Bank of England, argued in 1988 that money creation is an endogenous process determined partly by the price level, and not the other way round, and Goodhart (1989) pointed out that this direction of causation was more generally recognised than some opponents of monetarism supposed.

In 1983 the Bank of England published fierce academic criticisms of Friedman and Schwartz's historical analysis of the role of money (and by clear implication, criticism of the wilder claims which had previously been made for monetarism as an anti-inflationary policy). In his contribution, Professor Brown concluded thus:

Do Friedman and Schwartz make their case that UK experience supports a simple quantity theory, with money supply controlling prices and output controlled by other factors entirely? In a word, no. First, strict truth of a simple quantity theory implies that velocity of circulation is constant (or changes only very slowly) – that nominal income varies in proportion to money stock, which we have seen ... to be only loosely true over long periods, and over some very considerable periods not true at all. Second, price-changes have been as much

imposed on the UK from outside, or by labour-market behaviour only very loosely connected with monetary conditions, as they have been caused by monetary changes within the country. Such correspondence as exists between money stock and money income is due perhaps as much to money supply responding to demands created by eg rises in import and/or export prices, as to UK prices rising after a creation of domestic credit. It is true ... that output-growth shows no general, simple, connection with money-growth; it is affected by many factors, of which monetary conditions (a rather more complex matter than money-growth) provide only one. (Brown, 1983, p. 43)

Hendry and Ericsson also refuted the historical relationship between money and prices claimed by Friedman, and in a revised version of their Bank of England paper stated that their findings were consistent with those reported by Desai (1981, especially Chapter 4), and that:

The failure by Friedman and Schwartz to present statistical evidence pertinent to their main claims about the United Kingdom leaves those claims lacking in credibility. (Hendry and Ericsson, 1991, pp. 32-33)

Responding to these criticisms, Friedman and Schwartz merely complained that Hendry and Ericsson:

...use one equation from our book as a peg on which to hang an exposition of sophisticated econometric techniques. Insofar as their empirical findings do bear on ours, they simply confirm some of our principal results and contradict none. (Friedman and Schwartz, 1991, p. 39)

This defence was denied by the London Business School:

A number of recent articles have attempted to restore the use of a simple measure of the money supply as an indicator of future price levels and to reestablish a causal link from money to prices ... we find ... the causality runs from prices to money – this result conforms well to the work of Hendry and Ericsson ... or Hall, Henry and Wilcox (1990)... (Allen and Hall, 1991, p. 45)

The policy fate of the theory that control of the money supply will reduce the rate of inflation was sealed when John Major, then Chancellor, told the Treasury Committee in 1989 that:

That used to be the theory ... the Government may have followed some time ago. It certainly has not been the theory that the Government have followed during any period I have been in the Treasury. (Cited in Johnson, 1991, p. 66)



1.3 The Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment (NAIRU)

The Philip's curve apparently lost its explanatory value as from the middle of the 1960s unemployment and inflation appeared to be directly rather than inversely related. To explain this, monetarists broke the link between labour market conditions and nominal wages by hypothesising that money wage increases are determined by the rate of increase of the money supply. Real wages, they argued, are determined by supply and demand in the labour market so that unemployment is essentially voluntary. Attempting to reduce unemployment below this 'natural rate' by expansionary policies would simply lead to a growth in the money supply and accelerating inflation.

The problem theoretically for this Friedmanite monetarist model was that in the equation MV = PT, there was no logical reason why the direction of causation should run from M, the money supply (or its rate of growth) to P, the price level (or inflation). There was also no necessary reason for V to remain constant if M (or its rate of growth) was altered by policy intervention, even if it had remained constant previously (Goodhart's Law). In terms of policy there were also issues around defining and measuring M, and problems in controlling its rate of growth – possibly because there was some degree of causation running from the Right Hand Side of the monetary equation to the Left Hand Side.

These weaknesses in the theory and problems with the practice led to the abandonment of what might be termed this 'Friedmanite' monetarist approach. It was replaced by what might be termed a neo-Keynesian approach in which the 'natural rate' was replaced by the 'Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment' (NAIRU).

Like the natural rate and unlike the original Philips curve, the NAIRU was taken to be vertical, allowing only one rate of unemployment at which inflation would be stable. But like the original Philips curve, and unlike the natural rate, the theoretical framework for NAIRU was not market clearing Walrasian equilibrium but rather a recognition that wage and price setting are influenced by market structure and bargaining power. Different levels of unemployment will produce different degrees of bargaining power on the part of labour, and hence correspond to different degrees of wage pressure, which results in just one level of unemployment (the NAIRU) corresponding to stable inflation, with unemployment either higher or lower resulting in a lower or higher bargaining power respectively, and hence falling or rising rates of inflation.

The NAIRU approach assumes that as output and employment expands in an upswing, the bargaining wage will rise as labour becomes more scarce and the bargaining position of employees strengthens. The 'feasible' wage is defined as the wage that firms are able to pay, without having to raise prices. In the upswing, as the bargaining wage rises, the feasible wage fails to rise in line. The point where the two curves – for the bargaining wage and the feasible wage – intersect will be an equilibrium, at which employers will be able to meet trade unions aspirations and

agree to pay the bargaining wage, without having to raise prices, as this will be precisely the feasible wage. There will thus be no tendency for inflation to rise (or fall). Hence the level of unemployment that this point represents will be the NAIRU.⁶

Box 3: The Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment

The Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment (NAIRU) is a long-run Philips curve. Like the 'natural rate', it is vertical. This is the only rate of unemployment at which inflation will be stable ('non-accelerating'). However, unlike the 'natural rate' theory, the NAIRU represents the outcome of real world processes, including trade union wage bargaining, companies' pricing decisions, and the levels of productivity. Changing any of these may shift the NAIRU, thus allowing the rate of unemployment and/or inflation to be brought down.

For a discussion of the literature, see Sawyer (2001).

The level of NAIRU can therefore be altered by any factors that are able to shift either the feasible or bargaining wage. These factors will include labour market structures and institutions – such as trade unions and industrial relations systems. If these institutions remain unchanged, then they will reinforce the existing NAIRU. On the other hand, policy can reduce the NAIRU, and/or reduce inflation, be acting on such factors. (If unemployment is at its NAIRU rate with high but stable inflation – it must be stable at the NAIRU – then if the NAIRU shifts to the left but actual unemployment does not fall concomitantly, then inflation must fall, as actual unemployment will then be above its NAIRU level.)

The NAIRU approach thus puts more emphasis on how policy might shift the NAIRU, rather than accept it as 'given'. If competition between firms can be enhanced through, for example, reducing the degree of industrial concentration, thereby reducing firms' mark-up over costs, then the economy will be able to operate at a lower rate of unemployment without inflation rising. Likewise, if aggregate investment could be increased, raising productivity and competitiveness, then the feasible wage that firms would be able to pay would rise. This again would allow the economy to operate at lower rates of unemployment, without inflationary pressures developing. Enhancing productive capabilities thus shifts the NAIRU curve to the left.

The implications of this for policies to cut unemployment without risking inflationary pressures is that the bargaining wage has to be reduced or the feasible wage has to be increased. The bargaining wage could feasibly be reduced through a national labour accord for this purpose. But the history of incomes policies would suggest that this is unlikely to be achieved or, even if achieved, to endure, unless action is seen to be taken on the supply side of the economy, to drive up the feasible wage. That is, to

⁶ For a detailed textbook presentation and discussion of the NAIRU, see Carlin & Soskice (1990).



upgrade productive capabilities, productivity and value added so that firms are able to pay the higher wages that might be expected if the economy were to be operating at full employment. It is these policies that are key.

The way to do this – and hence to cut unemployment without risking inflation – are referred to in general terms above, namely increasing competition and productivity. The former requires detailed research into individual industries and markets to determine whether there is indeed scope for increasing the degree of competition. This is important not just to uncover cases of monopoly or collusion, where the required policy action may be clear. It is also important to be able to judge what the optimal degree and nature of competitive pressure would be to introduce or foster in any given market or industry. It would be counterproductive to put such pressure on companies that they felt unable to invest in long-term projects, whether on capital equipment, Research & Development, or employee training. If, in face of intensified market competition, companies cut back in these areas, the result would be to reduce the feasible wage – the exact opposite of what is needed for the NAIRU to be reduced.

Detailed research on a sector-by-sector basis is also required before anything sensible can be said about appropriate policies for driving up the feasible wage. In general terms, lower interest rates and publicly provided training can be expected to impact favourably on investment in capacity and skills. But beyond this, it requires targeted measures to assist firms and industries to upgrade and improve their productivity and competitiveness.

1.4 Beyond NAIRU

Within the NAIRU approach, as unemployment falls the 'bargaining wage', demanded by workers rises. This means that as unemployment falls, workers will be in a stronger bargaining position, and will hence be able to demand and get higher wages. At the same time the 'feasible wage' which employers can afford to pay without increasing prices fails to rise in line. This feasible wage will be determined by how productive the firm is.

Indeed, it is generally assumed that this 'feasible wage' does not rise with output at all. This failure of the wage which employers can afford to pay to rise as output rises is based on one or both of two seriously flawed arguments.

First, it is supposed that as firms increase their level of output, productivity fails to rise and may fall. But, in fact, the opposite is usually the case: in economic expansions output per head generally rises. This increase in productivity is explained by the fact that capital is operated at a higher level of utilisation as demand increases, and firms invest in more modern and productive equipment. The more reasonable assumption that productivity and hence the 'feasible wage' increases with output thus undermines the NAIRU approach. If increased capacity utilisation and, over the longer term, an increased and more technologically advanced capacity allows a growth of the feasible wage then there may be no unique 'equilibrium' point (NAIRU) with only that one

level of unemployment associated with non-accelerating inflation. Thus, even if the bargaining and feasible wages happened to coincide at a given level of unemployment, if unemployment falls with the feasible wage increasing (due to increased productivity) more than the increase in the bargaining wage, then such a model would actually predict that the reduction in unemployment would result in inflation falling rather than rising.

The second argument underlying the NAIRU analysis is that firms have to cut prices to sell more. By enabling firms to lower prices, cuts in wages and other employment costs allow them to sell more and to increase employment. But the size of the market of a firm (and hence the employment it can offer) is determined not only by the price that it charges but also by the prices being charged by its competitor firms. If the workers employed by that firm accept a lower wage so that the firm can cut its prices, it may be able to increase its output and its market share, but this may be at the expense of other firms and the employment that they offer. If all firms lower their wages there will be no change in relative prices and no increase in demand through the mechanism envisaged within the NAIRU approach. In that scenario it may be that the general fall in the price level would increase the real money supply, but that is a separate point, and could be brought about directly if so desired.⁷

Having pointed to the theoretical weaknesses in the NAIRU approach, it is important to recognise that while policy makers tend not to spell out the theoretical underpinnings to their policy actions, if this were to be done, then it is broadly this neo-Keynesian NAIRU approach that informs policy makers today – certainly more than the Friedmanite monetarism of the natural rate, and more so too than the previous Philips curve approach.

As far as policy implications go, though, rather than modelling any of the above Phillips curves with a view to what the inflation or unemployment rate might be in the future, given a change in level of the other variable, it is more helpful to analyse on the one hand those policies that might be pursued to reduce unemployment, and on the other those policies that might be pursued to reduce the rate of inflation. Crucially, where conflicting calls on policy emerge from this, it is important to then consider the various combinations of policies that might be pursued, and which might result in the optimum outcomes in terms of achieving both low rates of unemployment and low rates of inflation.

This after all was the approach during the 1960s and 1970s when supposedly the Phillips curve presented policy makers with a policy choice in terms of a trade-off. Rather than use this passively as a menu, policy makers continually sought to reduce unemployment without increasing inflation, and/or to reduce inflation without increasing unemployment. Likewise, while the NAIRU appears to suggest that unemployment cannot be cut below its non-inflationary rate without rising inflationary pressures, in practice the sort of economic modernisation policies that

⁷ For a discussion of the 'natural rate' and NAIRU literatures, see Sawyer (2001).



governments in any case tend to promote – to encourage investment, R&D, and training – are precisely those that would boost the feasible wage and hence bring down the NAIRU.⁸

2. What does policy experience tell us?

The belief prevalent in the 1960s and early 1970s, that there was a simple trade-off between accepting higher unemployment and enjoying lower inflation was abandoned during the course of the 1970s as this apparent relationship undoubtedly broke down empirically. Policy attempts to return to full employment on the assumption that this would lead to the previously enjoyed rates of inflation failed, in the sense that the inflation outcomes in the 1970s turned out to be higher than would have been expected for any given rate of unemployment in the past. It became clear that there must be other determinants of inflation and unemployment. The policy implication was that these other determinants should be targeted.

Initially, in the later 1970s and 1980s, the determinant of inflation was taken to be the money supply, while the determinants of unemployment were thought to be 'imperfections' in the labour market. These beliefs also failed the policy test. There proved to be no simple effect from reducing money supply growth to reduced inflation.

Policy in the 1990s and early 2000s therefore, in most countries, fell back on a pragmatic attempt to restrain inflation by reducing economic growth whenever inflationary pressures were thought to be building. This has been pursued largely through interest rate policy. Attempts to reduce unemployment have consisted firstly of not raising interest rates any further than thought strictly necessary to contain inflationary pressures. In other words, provided there was no inflationary threat, interest rates would be kept as low as possible in order to maximise investment and consumption and hence economic growth rates and employment. In addition, active labour market and industrial policies have been pursued to varying degrees in order to directly tackle any remaining unemployment.

The outcome in most countries has been fairly low and stable inflation. However, it is not clear that this has been the result of interest rate policies used to contain inflation. On the contrary, interest rates were generally kept rather low, certainly in the US and Japan, yet inflation too remained low – and even fell below zero in Japan, risking deflation of the price level. In Europe, the moves towards monetary union involved restrictive fiscal and monetary policies, firstly as required by the Treaty on Monetary Union and subsequently by the Stability and Growth Pact. This generally resulted in

-

⁸ This is assuming, of course, that the NAIRU is vertical. Setterfield & Leblond (2003) suggest that for US 1990s data it is not, and there is a policy trade-off available. Hodge (2002) failed to detect a stable short run trade-off between inflation and either unemployment or employment in South Africa (1970-2000) but did find a significant positive relationship between inflation and growth. Nell (2000) also found that inflation within the single-digit zone may be beneficial to growth.

higher interest rates in Europe than in the US and Japan. However, while these had the impact that might be expected in dampening economic growth and employment, there appears to have been no gain in terms of lower inflation in Europe than the US or Japan.

The move from Friedmanite monetarism and the natural rate, to the neo-Keynesian NAIRU framework gave theoretical justification for policy action in the area of unemployment and inflation in two key areas, namely recognising, firstly, that the labour market is segmented, and that active labour market policies can reduce unemployment without necessarily creating inflationary pressures, and secondly that competition policy can put downward pressure on prices.

2.1 Labour market segmentation

In the non-market clearing world of NAIRU, the labour market is recognised to be segmented in various ways: between 'insiders' and 'outsiders', between the economically active and inactive, and by the whole range of factors that tend to differentiate labour in the employment market. This has presented the theoretical basis for the 'New Deal' labour market policies of the current UK Labour Government. Firstly, through a recognition that 'the labour market' cannot be treated as a single entity whereby all workers will respond in similar ways to new employment opportunities, and secondly because of the idea that bringing the economically inactive into the active job market will weaken labour's bargaining power and hence shift the NAIRU to the left, creating stable inflation at a lower rate of unemployment than previously.

The theory of labour market segmentation actually pre-dates that of NAIRU, and includes broader sociological and institutional factors than are usually included in the NAIRU literature. Thus:

The structuring or segmentation of the labour supply so that labour of equivalent quality is available for employment at different wage rates results both from the structure of job opportunities in the labour market, and the influence of institutional factors, social, familial and educational, in differentiating labour on the labour market. (Craig et al., 1982, p. 88)

This segmentation analysis 'disputes the neoclassical view that the structure of pay reflects primarily the structure of relative labour efficiency, and argues that the number of good jobs in the economy is mainly determined by the development of the industrial and technological structure largely independent of labour supply. The structuring of the supply of labour serves to determine which groups are confined to the low-productivity secondary sectors of employment, but it does not follow that the least efficient workers are necessarily relegated to these low-productivity sectors. The existence of non-competing groups has important implications for the structure of employment.



Barriers to mobility mean that there is no equalisation between groups of the relationship of pay to labour productivity. In these circumstances firms can claim labour from segments where pay is low relative to labour productivity in order to compete more effectively and can possibly retain otherwise obsolete techniques. The existence of segments of the labour force with different labour market statues may also create the situation where jobs are classified not by their content but according to the labour market position of the workers normally undertaking the work. Thus jobs are secondary because they are performed by workers generally considered secondary: jobs are regarded as unskilled because they are feminised and not feminised because they are unskilled. Moreover, the existence of non-competing groups may be of considerable social and political importance for the maintenance of labour market segmentation. The role of class divisions and racial and sexual discrimination as a means of legitimising and enforcing inequalities in the labour market is central' (Craig et al., 1982, p. 77).

This segmentation of labour markets means that policy goals of targeting certain levels of unemployment need to take account of the various segmented labour markets and what the public policy goals should be with respect to each. It also means that a prerequisite for such a policy agenda is detailed research into the segmented labour market: what those segmented labour markets are in any given country at any particular time, what the levels of pay, employment, productivity, labour turnover and so on are in each of those markets, what the degree of mobility is between the various segments of the labour market, and crucially, how policy might be tailored to tackle with the specifics that such research uncovers.

2.2 Competition policy and regulated prices

When market clearing assumptions are dropped, and the reality of industrial concentration and mark-up pricing is acknowledged, then competition policy becomes relevant to the issue of inflation. Certainly there has been renewed emphasis in the UK and across Europe recently on how increased competition can drive down prices, as well as deliver other economic benefits, including possibly increased employment.

It is worth emphasising the commitment of the Labour Government since 1997 to increased product market competition. There was a new Competition Act that included significantly increased powers for the Office of Fair Trading. Merger policy was firmly driven by competition considerations. In the utilities competition was pursued rigorously, with the fostering of domestic competition for gas and electricity and the introduction of the New Electricity Trading Arrangements. (Corry, 2003, p. 17)

The degree of market concentration is clearly an empirical one, which in any given country will vary between industries and over time. The impact of market concentration is not just that firms will be able to charge higher prices than would otherwise be the case, but also that their reaction to events will differ – they may be more able to pass on increased costs than would otherwise be the case, thus exacerbating an inflationary spiral, and may also be less responsive to increased

interest rates, or at least the nature of their response may be different, postponing investment rather than cutting prices to maintain market shares.⁹

This is therefore an area that would require detailed research on an industry-by-industry basis to determine the degree of market concentration, and on a firm-by-firm basis to establish the implications of any such concentration on pricing and investment decisions in the face of changes in input costs or interest rate changes. Clearly the most important industries in this regard are those whose pricing behaviour can have economy-wide effects – such as food, energy and the utilities. ¹⁰

¹⁰ The Statements of the SARB's Monetary Policy Committee often discuss the degree to which inflationary pressures have come through from specific sectors (eg October 16th 2003).



⁹ There is a large literature on the pricing reaction of oligopolists, including that around the 'kinked demand curve'

3. The specifics of South Africa

There are questions over the reliability of data on unemployment in South Africa, but there is no doubt that unemployment is a serious problem.¹¹ The Reserve Bank reports an unemployment rate of 31.2%.¹² According to the Economist Intelligence Unit, unemployment has risen from 23% in 1999 to 26% in 2000, 28% in 2001 and 30% in 2002.¹³

Inflation has remained higher than in Europe, North America or Japan, but these are not necessarily the appropriate comparator economies, given both the level of income per head and also the structural make-up of the economy, with a large proportion of productive activity taking place in the agricultural, domestic service and informal sectors of the economy.

The year-on-year rate of increase in the CPIX (the overall consumer price index for metropolitan and other urban areas, excluding the interest cost of mortgage bonds), which had dropped from 11,3 per cent in October 2002 to 6,4 per cent in June 2003, picked up marginally to 6,6 per cent in July before falling again to 6,3 per cent in August. Although this brought the rate of increase in the CPIX to its lowest level in twenty-one months, it was still above the upper boundary of the inflation target.' (SARB Monetary Policy Committee, 16th October 2003)¹⁴

The SARB's target range for inflation is 3% to 6%.

In June 2003, at a Growth Development Summit held under the auspices of Nedlac, actions were agreed for accelerating the growth and development process, and to halve the rate of unemployment by 2014.

What implications does this commitment have for inflation? There are two possible connections. Firstly, it may be that achieving such a reduction will require either a fall in interest rates or a fall in the value of the Rand against other currencies, and in either case this might tend to raise the rate of inflation. Secondly, it may be that a fall in the level of unemployment might itself have inflationary consequences. This might operate through the NAIRU-type processes, of increased wage pressures. Alternatively, it may be that there is insufficient productive capacity in the economy to

1

¹¹ For a discussion of how to define and interpret unemployment and underemployment in South Africa, see Standing *et al.* (1996).

¹² Latest at time of writing (16/10/03).

¹³ See Altman (2003a) for a discussion of the reliability and range of unemployment figures for South Africa. See also Kingdon & Knight (2000, 2001) for a discussion of the measurement and nature of unemployment in South Africa.

¹⁴This statement also discussed the variation in different components of inflation, including the producer price index which is currently rising at a far slower rate than the CPIX.

sustain the higher levels of employment, in which case inflationary pressures would result from supply shortages. We consider these labour market, capacity and interest rate issues in turn.

3.1 Unemployment, wage growth and productivity

In an analysis of South African labour market processes, and in particular of the relationship between unemployment, wage growth and productivity, Wakeford (2003) found that unemployment 'has little or no effect in terms of restraining real wage growth'. Wakeford found that increased productivity allowed – and led to – an increase in real wages, although not fully proportional, so that, had this been tested for, we would expect that part of the gains from productivity would feed through to increased profits.

The implications for inflation and unemployment are as follows. Increased productivity allows increased real wages. These can come through one or either of two routes. Either the increased productivity boosts profits and this leads to some increase in wage rates. Or alternatively, the increased productivity allows prices to be cut (or at least, price rises to be cut), hence increasing the real value of any given money wage. Either way, the result will be to prevent or at least reduce pressure for increased money-wages. The target real wage will have been delivered – in whole or part, or possibly even exceeded – through the increased productivity. The outcome will thus be reduced inflationary pressure.

The degree to which increased productivity can pay for increased wages without the need to increase prices will depend on how costly or otherwise the increased productivity was to the company. At one extreme, a gain in productivity might be entirely costless, for example if it resulted simply from being able to expand output in response to increased demand at a time when resources were otherwise lying idle. On the other hand, if the rise in productivity is the end product from years of costly investment into Research & Development, product and process development, work reorganisation and staff training, then these additional costs might absorb the whole of the increased value added resulting from the increased productivity.

The outcome on employment will depend on the extent to which the increased productivity leads to increased sales. These can come from increased exports or increased domestic sales, and can be achieved either because the increased productivity allows lower prices or increased quality or both. In some cases the increased productivity will be associated with innovation, in which case whole new markets may be created. Thus, increases in output per head (productivity) tend to be associated with increased sales and hence higher output. The relative size of these two effects — increased sales, and higher productivity — will determine whether the increased output levels will involve higher or lower employment.

Thus, there is no reason to suppose that achieving the lower rate of unemployment targeted would lead to upward pressure on inflation. That will depend on the



behaviour of a number of other economic variables, including the 'bargaining' and 'feasible' wage levels. The lower unemployment outcome might even be associated with lower inflation. The key issue is whether the economy's productive capacity is expanded in line with increased employment, with the necessary levels of investment in new infrastructure, capital equipment, R&D and training.

3.2 Investment and productive capacity

Whether firms will increase or reduce their prices as demand for their goods and services rises depends crucially on whether they are expanding their own productive capacity. If so, then there will be cost savings from spreading overheads over a larger output with increased capacity utilisation. Over the medium and longer terms the increased productivity from newer 'vintages' of capital equipment and more modern equipment and productive facilities generally, may lead to falling costs and prices (or at least falling rates of increase). ¹⁵ If firms also have an incentive to cut prices to gain market share then this may have a further counter-inflationary impact.

On the other hand, if the expansion in employment occurs without sufficient expansion in investment, this may lead to available capacity becoming fully utilised, creating inflationary bottlenecks. As indicated above, the term 'investment' covers a range of activities: not just corporate investment in premises, machinery and equipment, but also investment in infrastructure, in Research & Development, and in training and human capital development. In these areas, Government and other public and quasi-public agencies may have a part to play.

Government needs to facilitate the necessary developments so that this economic capacity – broadly defined – can be enhanced in a balanced fashion across the economy. This is the surest way to bring about the desired non-inflationary growth in output and employment.

3.3 Interest rates, investment and demand

The question remains, however, whether the necessary investment decisions will be made and sustained in the face of high interest rate levels. The preferred outcome would clearly be to enhance economic capacity so as to reduce inflationary pressures, thus avoiding the need to raise interest rates. However, if for whatever reason inflation rises, then there is indeed a danger that if interest rates are raised in response, this may well choke off either some of the activities through which the increased employment was envisaged being created, or the capacity enhancing investment which is required to increase employment in the economy.¹⁶ In the former case the

24

¹⁵ See Salter (1969) for an analysis of the role of investment on economic performance, and a discussion of the 'vintages' model of capital investment.

¹⁶ Aron & Meullbauer (2002) find important and persistent effects of high real interest rates, which significantly constrained South African economic growth in the 1990s.

unemployment targets will simply not be met. In the latter case, inflationary pressures will be created.

This calls for detailed research work to be undertaken into the various causal mechanisms that the SARB assume lead from an increase in the interest rate to a fall in the rate of inflation. Is the effect thought to work via:

- The increased interest rate causing a fall in the money supply which leads directly to a reduction in inflation, as in the monetarist model?
- Reduced consumer demand leading to firms cutting prices (or planned price rises) in order to retain sales?
- Reduced investment demand leading to a fall in prices of investment goods?
- Some combination of the above two effects leading to slower growth, resulting in pressure on firms to cut prices to stay in business, and increased unemployment leading to reduced wage levels and hence reduced inflationary pressure?
- Or any other causal processes?

Whatever the hypothesised processes, they need to be researched and established empirically. If this were done, it is possibly that other, more effective mechanisms might be found.

For example, one of the causal mechanisms might be that an increase in interest rates reduces planned investment, thus reducing the pace of economic expansion and hence reduces inflationary pressure. But how does an increase in interest rates actually affect firms' investment decisions? How does this differ between large, medium, small and micro firms? Between manufacturing, agriculture and services? Between the internationally traded and non-traded sectors? Between the formal and the informal sectors? Between domestic firms, foreign MNEs and domestic MNEs? Between the public and private sectors? And so on.

The relative importance of the interest rate level as against other factors – such as the availability of capital, and the terms on which it is available – need to be established both theoretically and empirically. Once this has been done, the efficacy of using interest rates to target inflation can be estimated, and this can be compared with other possible policy levers that might be used either instead of or in combination with interest rate policy.

There are a number of issues here.

First, to what extent are interest rates and inflation linked? It is clear that the SARB believe that they are, since the statements of their Monetary Policy Committee tend to end with the warning that if inflation were to rise, the Bank would take the necessary decisions on interest rates – clearly implying that they would be increased. That increased interest rates will tend to have a depressing effect on prices in the short



term is generally not in dispute. There are some counteracting pressures, for example in countries where mortgages are significant and are included in the measures of inflation, so that an increase in interest rates will lead to an increase in mortgage rates and hence to a rise in the measured rate of inflation. The doubts, though, are twofold. Firstly, what are the mechanisms by which an increase in interest rates tends to depress rates of inflation? And secondly, what implications might there be for the inflation over the longer term?

On the first question, there are a number of possible mechanisms, as illustrated above. In addition to those listed above, an increase in the interest rate will also tend to raise the value of the currency on foreign exchange markets, hence reducing the price of imported goods. The broad issue is to what extent the interest rate effect on inflation works through depressing real economic variables, namely investment, output, and employment? In the era of Friedmanite monetarism described above, the hope was that controlling the money supply ('M' in the MV=PT monetary identity) would impact directly on inflation (P). The reality has proved different in two important ways. Firstly, the impact of attempting to control the money supply is to increase interest rates. So policies to control inflation now tend to be pursued through raising the interest rate directly. And secondly, this impacts on the real side of the economy – the number of transactions (T), alternatively written as output (Q). The resulting reduction in output (or its rate of growth) will tend to depress the rate of inflation, as firms face weaker markets in which they have to attempt to sell their goods and services. And as output (or its rate of growth) falls, so does employment. This may also impact on the ability of employees to secure increased wages - although this depends very much on the segmentation of the labour market referred to above. It may be that if there is wage pressure on inflation, this is coming from an entirely different segment of the labour force than the segment that will be affected by a slowdown initiated by increased interest rates.

To increase interest rates to reduce inflation is therefore at best a rather 'blunt instrument', working as it does through depressing the real economy. If it is the only option, then so be it. But this does mean that if the actual processes can be identified, it may be that more targeted policy could achieve the same anti-inflationary gain with less depressed real output pain.

In other words, the increased interest rate will impact on various sectors of the economy. Each will suffer some degree of 'pain' in the sense of increased costs of investment and possibly a reduction in their expected future sales if the increased interest rate impacts on demand. Each may also, therefore reduce their employment, or planned employment, below what it would otherwise have been. (This may be just a reduction in a planned increase rather than a reduction in actual levels.) And in each case, there may be some downward effect on prices in that sector. The point is that the size of these effects may differ from sector to sector.

First, different sectors may experience different degrees of 'pain'. Secondly, for any given fall in output, the corresponding reduction in employment may differ. And thirdly, for any given fall in output and employment, the degree to which there is any counter-inflationary gain may differ.

If the size of these three effects were known on a sector-by-sector basis, then it might be possible to target policy more accurately – either by taking action to slow down those sectors from which most inflationary gain would be expected or by attempting to protect those sectors from which there would be little to be gained from squeezing. This latter might be attempted, for example, by somehow sheltering those sectors from the impact of an increase in the general rate of interest.

The second question posed above was what effect all this might have on inflation over the longer term. If a rise in interest rates depresses investment – either directly, because of its increased costs, or indirectly by depressing the general level of activity, which will cause investment plans to be scaled downward – then this will lead to a lower level of economic capacity than would otherwise have been the case. In addition, the capital stock will on average be older than it would be, had there been greater investment in new machinery. Likewise, if investment in people is scaled down, then the labour force may be less skilled than they otherwise would have been. The first effect, of a lower level of economic capacity, means that in any subsequent economic expansion, capacity constraints and bottlenecks are likely to be hit sooner than would otherwise have been the case. And these capacity constraints and bottlenecks are generally sources of inflationary pressure.

The second effect, of depressed productivity (or reduced growth in productivity) will leave firms less able to absorb any increase in costs that might come from raw material prices, wages or some other source. A greater proportion of any such increase in input prices is thus likely to be passed through in increased output prices.

These longer-term effects of increased interest rates may thus leave the economy less well placed to deliver non-inflationary growth in the future, despite any short-term effect of depressing the rate of inflation.



4. Policy implications

The policy implications of this are as follows. Firstly, achieving increased productivity is an important way of maintaining low rates of inflation. If input costs are rising, then a firm with rising productivity may be able to absorb these increased input costs, while a firm with stagnant productivity will have to pass them on in increased prices. Increased productivity, though, generally requires investment – in capital and people. Hence it is important to keep interest rates as low as is practically possible, to encourage such investment. High interest rates may also dampen growth rates and, perhaps even more crucially, expectations about the growth of demand. If so, this will tend to inhibit the sort of investment and expansion plans that generally deliver increased productivity.

Hence there is a paradox. Interest rates are raised to avoid any perceived danger of imminent inflationary pressures. But there is a danger that in so doing, productivity-enhancing investment and expansion may be inhibited. Yet these productivity gains are crucial for avoiding inflationary pressures over the longer term. The short-term anti-inflationary gain from raising interest rates may thus lead to longer-term inflationary pain.

The key policy question for South Africa, therefore, is as follows. If interest rates were cut in order to encourage productivity-enhancing investment and expansion, would this lead to a short-run rise in inflation, before the inflation-absorbing benefits of the increased productivity came on stream. If the answer to this is yes – that there would be a danger of a short-term rise in inflation – then are there other policies that might be pursued to contain inflation in the short term? And are there other policies that might be pursued to encourage increased productivity and expansion, other than the reserve bank cutting interest rates?

4.1 Policies to contain short-term inflationary pressures

The Central Bank's interest rate decisions do of course impact upon the exchange rate level, and this also affects the inflation rate. However, to the extent that this is pursued as a short-term anti-inflation measure, the implications for interest rate policy are similar to the use of interest rates to target inflation directly, namely, an increase in interest rates aimed at curbing inflation will also tend to strengthen the value of the currency, and this in turn will have an anti-inflationary impact in the short term. The medium and longer term effects may include the same problems as are caused by the high interest rates themselves, namely a depressing effect on output and hence investment, and thus on capacity levels.¹⁷

28

¹⁷ Jack Kipling, Chair of the Export Council for the Clothing Industry reports that the current value of the Rand is beginning to lead to small cuts in employment (cited in Itano, 2003).

In principle the value of the exchange rate can be influenced by exchange controls, although in practice South Africa is not likely to consider their use.

Other possible anti-inflationary measures have been referred to above. Incomes policies have been used extensively in the past across the world, but have generally fallen out of favour. There may be scope for developing a national accord on wages and prices, but international experience suggests that this would most likely only work if part of a more general package of measures aimed at securing non-inflationary growth of output and employment.

Administered prices can and have been used by governments to restrain inflation. But unless there is reason to believe that there is scope for altering the current decisions in these areas, this is not likely to provide much scope for use against inflation.

Increased prices can in some cases be offset by cuts in taxes on those goods, but again this is likely to be at best only a short-term option, appropriate perhaps if there are particular inflationary pressures that are believed to be only one-off or short term, that could be counteracted in this way.

Finally there is the point mentioned above about increasing competitive pressures in markets. This may be particularly important in cases where input prices rise – for example because of increased fuel prices. In an uncompetitive sector there will be a natural tendency to pass on increased costs in price rises. In other words, a constant mark-up on costs will be implied, thus producing increased prices. In a more competitive market, this will not be done without serious thought about what competitors might do. And if the increased input costs are thought to be only temporary, there may be a greater tendency to try to absorb the increased costs by accepting a temporarily lower mark-up, thus avoiding price rises.

4.2 Policies to boost productivity and expansion

If the above policies are not thought to be adequate to allow the Reserve Bank to cut interest rates to the level that would maximise productivity-enhancing investment and expansion, then are there other policy initiatives that could be taken to act directly on such investment decisions?

It is important firstly to recognise that the interest rate actually faced by any individual company that is considering whether or not to embark on what might be a costly and long-term investment programme will vary from company to company. In other words, we cannot read off directly from the interest rate set by the Reserve Bank to that which will be influencing these key corporate decisions, on which the future productivity levels of the economy will depend. The actual interest rates faced will depend on a range of factors such as that company's credit rating.

The important point for the current paper, though, is that there may be some scope for public policy to circumvent the potential damage that high interest rates might



otherwise have on investment decisions by providing lower interest rate arrangements for specific projects, along the lines of the cheap finance that has been made available in the past by the Industrial Development Corporation (IDC).

While such an approach is not government policy at present, it might prove to be worth considering, depending on what, empirically, was found about the impact of interest rate increases on different types of firms across sectors.

It is also important to establish just what role the interest rate level plays for different types of enterprise when it comes to their making productive decisions — on investment, output, employment, pricing and so on. Research is also needed into what other factors play a role, such as the availability of finance, and the terms and conditions under which such finance is made available.

4.2.1 Public works

The use of public works to tackle unemployment is usually associated with John Maynard Keynes's original argument that the workings of free market economies will not of itself result if full employment. In *The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money* he argued that the level of unemployment will depend of how much employment is required to produce the level of goods and services that are, in aggregate, demanded. Or even more precariously, the level of demand that companies expect to face. If the level of aggregate demand is below that required to fully employ the entire workforce, then unemployment will result. And expectations can prove self-fulfilling, in either a positive or negative fashion. If investors' 'animal spirits' take a cautious turn, then the resulting cut backs in investment and orders will themselves create a fall in demand, which will further dampen expectations. Expectations of a recession can become self-fulfilling. What is required for a return to full employment is thus a boost in effective demand. And public works is one way in which governments can help to deliver the necessary boost to demand.

More recently attention has focussed on how to attract foreign capital, and on how to improve the domestic economy's international competitiveness. An efficient productive infrastructure – transport, communications, education and training, and so on – is key. Here again, the role of public works is vital, given the 'public good' nature of much of this infrastructure work.

Public works thus play a dual role. On the one hand, they improve the underlying economic infrastructure. On the other, they can be part of an active labour market policy. Improving the underlying economic infrastructure will of course be beneficial over the longer term to output and hence employment. Thus, the active labour market aspect of public works might be thought of as addressing immediate cyclical unemployment problems, whereas the economic capacity enhancing aspects are addressing the longer-term structural unemployment problems which require a sustained improvement in economic performance over time. The two aspects both therefore contribute to employment over the longer term.

There are short-term choices to be made, though, as to how labour or capital intensive civil works should be. The Department of public works is thus currently looking at whether a clear commitment by government could be made to ensure that such works are made as labour intensive as is practicable and appropriate.

So certainly, investing in an improved productive infrastructure – such as the telecommunications network, including access to broadband – is an important area for public policy. Such activity will also create employment directly in the short run, quite apart from the beneficial outcomes that it intends to deliver for business and hence for future economic growth and employment opportunities.

The June 2003 Growth & Development Summit (GDS) saw the government agreeing to extend the public works and infrastructure investment programme that was already to be found in the Medium Term Expenditure Framework. For some, the benefits from this are no doubt thought to be the job creation effects of the programmes themselves, as well as the contribution that the works might make to living standards if they are delivering say housing or water. But such programmes, particularly those involving the productive infrastructure, do also play an important role within the unemployment-inflation relationship, by creating the conditions for higher productivity over the medium and longer term, hence alleviating the danger of inflationary pressures at the same time as creating the conditions for higher levels of employment and hence lower unemployment:

To promote sustainability and a virtuous circle of growth, such a programme will require a detailed understanding of the dynamics of the targeted industries, in order to ensure that increased expenditure is matched by enhanced supply capacity, including appropriately skilled and accredited labour. This requires an industrial strategy for each sector, in addition to the more narrow focus on increasing the demand for goods and services through the expansion of government expenditure.

'Government can only go so far in stimulating jobs directly. Ultimately, deeper linkages are required. It is often forgotten that employment is about all the linkages that occur in response to an investment. The more credible and sustained a programme is, the more the private sector will respond, not just by delivering the procured service, but by mobilizing investment resources to provide inputs, logistics, and related goods and services – these are the desired spin-offs that are required to enhance the ability of the economy to create more jobs.' (Altman, 2003b, p. 8)

Thus, public works can influence the employment-inflation agenda in a number of different ways. Firstly, public works can directly affect the level of unemployment, via their direct employment effects. Secondly, by enhancing the productive infrastructure, South African industry can be made more competitive internationally and hence may increase their market shares in export as well as domestic markets (in competition with imports). This will lead to increased employment. Thirdly, by addressing real needs within society, public works may help foster and develop new markets and



areas of economic activity that otherwise would not have existed, and this might prove sustainable over the longer term beyond just the direct public works input.

5. Further research

This paper has sketched out what seem to be the key issues that would need to be analysed in order to establish how the target of halving unemployment might be achieved in a non-inflationary manner. Two areas of research into policy measures appropriate to the current South African context would be:

- The segmentation of labour markets means that policy goals of targeting certain levels of unemployment need to take account of the various segmented labour markets and what the public policy goals should be with respect to each. It also means that a prerequisite for such a policy agenda is detailed research into the segmented labour market: what those segmented labour markets are in any given country at any particular time, what the levels of pay, employment, productivity, labour turnover and so on are in each of those markets, what the degree of mobility is between the various segments of the labour market, and crucially, how policy might be tailored to the specifics that such research uncovers.
- The degree of market concentration is clearly an empirical one, which in any given country will vary between industries and over time. The impact of market concentration is not just that firms will be able to charge higher prices than would otherwise be the case, but also that their reaction to events will differ they may be more able to pass on increased costs than would otherwise be the case, thus exacerbating an inflationary spiral, and may also be less responsive to increased interest rates, or at least the nature of their response may be different, postponing investment rather than cutting prices to maintain markets. This is therefore an area that would require detailed research on an industry-by-industry basis to determine the degree of market concentration, and on a firm-by-firm basis to establish the implications of any such concentration on pricing and investment decisions in the face of changes in input costs or interest rate changes.

6. Conclusions

Discussing whether monetary policy is different for the SARB than for other central banks, Ian Plenderleith (2003), a Deputy Governor of the Reserve Bank, concludes that while the task is broadly comparable, the context is different. One of these differences is the greater need, in South Africa, to establish policy credibility, so that the SARB needed if anything to be more cautious than central banks elsewhere. On the other hand, one of the other differences Plenderleith notes is the greater susceptibility of the South African economy to supply shocks – and 'higher interest rates will not help to make the maize crop grow higher'.

While central banks tend nowadays to prioritise the policy target of achieving and maintaining a low rate of inflation, within or around some inflation target, in practice other factors undoubtedly impinge on their decision making processes to some degree – the level of the exchange rate, the rate of growth of the economy, the rate of unemployment, and so on.¹⁸ Padayachee (2001) argues that this broader agenda should be made more explicit. Epstein (2002) argues that employment should be made an explicit target. In effect, though, this would simply be to shift the *emphasis* from inflation to employment, whilst retaining a focus on the whole range of economic variables being targeted – or at least influencing the decision making processes – since Epstein acknowledges that any employment target would need to be subject to some inflationary ceiling or limit. But even such a shift in emphasis, Epstein suggests, would help change the culture within the SARB and elsewhere, leading to research becoming more focussed on the employment consequences of policy actions, and so forth.

It is certainly true that the general macroeconomic and public policy culture can play an important role in setting the agenda for research and policy development, encouraging certain avenues to be explored and closing down others. It is also the case that if there is going to be a serious effort across the economic, political and social community to achieve major policy goals such as the halving of unemployment whilst maintaining the current 3% to 6% inflation target range, and also pursuing other major goals such as black empowerment and employment, it will be important to develop 'joined up' thinking and action between the various departments and sections of Government, other public agencies, quasi-public bodies, the corporate sector, trade unions, community bodies and others.

The above discussion has avoided listing the huge range of policy areas that would need to be brought in on any such major policy development. But any one of the few topics mentioned above – such as developing high commitment work systems – would involve a huge range of different actors, across the private and public sectors, and across corporate, trade union and governmental bodies. Just this area alone might

¹⁸ For a discussion of whether inflation targeting is appropriate for South Africa, see ABSA (2002).



involve legislative change, regulatory action, trade union involvement, corporate decisions and so on.

The institutional underpinnings of the unemployment-inflation relationship are key to the functioning of any economy. But they are not simple. Neither are they given or static. These relationships are constantly evolving. But they are also subject and amenable to change and development. Such change and development can and should be actively fostered, not only to bring about better outcomes for, say, the labour market, but also to contribute to economic development more fundamentally, through the interconnections referred to above, between such processes and other economic outcomes.

Thus, a better-trained workforce is a classic 'public good'. Combined with an appropriate organisation of work, this can translate into a private good for the employers. And if the workforce is committed and motivated, productivity will be further raised.

For this combination to translate into macroeconomic output and employment gains, will require demand to be rising faster than productivity. And for this to be combined with stable or falling inflation will require cost-absorbing new capacity and innovation. To be sustainable, the country's productive infrastructure needs to be continually renewed. This narrative could continue through the links to education, housing, FDI, entrepreneurship and an almost endless range of inherently inter-related economic and social factors. The key point, though, is to understand that these links are there, and that they ought properly to be the focus of active and joined up policy development.

Within this context, detailed research and policy work is necessary to advance our knowledge and understanding of how such policy can best be developed in each of these areas within the context of current day South Africa.

References

ABSA (2002), 'Focus article - Inflation targeting: appropriate for South Africa?', Economic Perspective, 4th Quarter, http://www.finforum.co.za/econanal/2002q4focus.pdf

Allen, C. and Hall, S. (1991), 'Money as a potential anchor for the price level: a critique of the P* approach', in London Business School, *Economic Outlook 1990-1994*, Gower, pp. 45-49

Altman, Miriam (2003a), Jobless or Job Creating Growth? Some Preliminary Thoughts, Paper presented at the TIPS/DPRU Annual Forum, 8th-10th September

Altman, Miriam (2003b), Background Document – Framework for Immediate Job Creation, Submission to National Treasury and Department of Public Works

Aron, Janine and Muellbauer, John (2002), Interest Rate Effects on Output: Evidence from a GDP Forecasting Model for South Africa, University of Oxford Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR) Discussion Paper No. 3595

Brown, A.J. (1983), 'Friedman and Schwartz on the United Kingdom', in *Monetary Trends in the United Kingdom*, Bank of England Panel Paper 22, pp. 9-43

Carlin, Wendy and Soskice, David (1990), Macroeconomics and the Wage Bargain: A Modern Approach to Employment, Inflation and the Exchange Rate, Oxford University Press

Cook, Jackie, Deakin, Simon, Michie, Jonathan and Nash, David (2003), *Trust Rewards: realising the mutual advantage*, London: Mutuo (available from j.michie@bbk.ac.uk)

Corry, Dan (2003), 'Running the Utilities', New Economy, Volume 10, Issue 1, March, pp. 16-20

Craig, Christine, Rubery, Jill, Tarling, Roger and Wilkinson, Frank (1982), Labour Market Structure, Industrial Organisation and Low Pay, Cambridge University Press

Cross, Rod (1995), The Natural Rate of Unemployment: Reflections on 25 Years of the Hypothesis, Cambridge University Press

Desai, Meghnad (1981), Testing Monetarism, Francis Pinter

Dornbusch, Rudiger and Simonsen, Mario Henrique (1992), 'Inflation stabilization with incomes policy support', in Patrick Foley (ed.), Why Inflation?, Pinter Publishers

Dow, J.C.R. and Saville, I.D. (1988), A Critique of Monetary Policy. Theory and British Experience, Oxford: Clarendon Press



Driver, Ciaran and Michie, Jonathan (1998), 'The capacity stance of firms', ESRC Centre for Research on Innovation & Competition Working Paper, University of Manchester

Epstein, Gerald (2002), Employment-oriented Central Bank Policy in an Integrated World Economy: A Reform Proposal for South Africa, University of Massachusetts at Amherst Department of Economics, Political Economy Research Institute (PERI) Working Paper No. 39

Fransman, Martin (1998), The Relevance of East Asian Institutions Designed to Support Industrial and Technological Development in Southern African Countries, Geneva: UNCTAD

Friedman, Milton and Schwartz, Anna J. (1991), Alternative approaches to analysing economic data', *American Economic Review*, Volume 81, pp. 39-49

Gerald Epstein (2002), Employment-oriented Central Bank Policy in an Integrated World Economy: A Reform Proposal for South Africa, University of Massachusetts at Amherst - Department of Economics, PERI Working Paper No. 39: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=333782

Gilbert, Evan (2003), 'Do managers of South African manufacturing firms make optimal capital investment decisions?', unpublished paper, University of Cape Town Graduate Business School

Goodhart, Charles (1989), 'Has Moore become too horizontal', *Journal of Post-Keynesian Economics*, Volume 12, pp. 29-34

Johnson, Christopher (1991), The Economy Under Mrs Thatcher, 1979-1990, Penguin

Hall, S.G., Henry, S.G.B. and Wilcox, J.B. (1990), 'The long-run determination of UK monetary aggregates', in S.G.B. Henry and K.D. Patterson (eds), *Economic Modelling at the Bank of England*, Chapman and Hall

Hendry, David F. and Ericsson, N.R. (1983), 'Assertion without empirical basis: an econometric appraisal of Friedman and Schwartz', in *Monetary Trends in the United Kingdom*, Bank of England Panel Paper 22, pp. 45-101

Hodge, D. (2002), 'Inflation versus unemployment in South Africa: Is there a trade-off?', The South African Journal of Economics, Volume 70, Number 3

Itano, Nicole (2003), 'Central Bank in South Africa is expected to cut key rate', New York Times, September 10th

Jossa, Bruno (2001), 'Phillips curve', in J. Michie (ed.), *The Reader's Guide to the Social Sciences*, Fitzroy Dearborn & Routledge

Kingdon, G. and Knight, J. (2000), Are Searching and Non-searching Unemployment Distinct States when Unemployment is High? The Case of South Africa, Centre for the Study of African Economies, Economics Department, University of Oxford, Working Paper No. 2000 - 2

Kingdon, G. and Knight, J. (2001), Unemployment in South Africa: the nature of the beast, Centre for the Study of African Economies, Economics Department, University of Oxford, Working Paper No. 2001 - 15

Lipsey, R.G. (1960), 'The Relationship between Unemployment and the Rate of Change of Money Wage Rates in the UK 1862-1957', *Economica*, Volume 41, Feb., pp. 62-70

Machaka, Johannes, Mainga, Wise and Roberts, Simon (2003), Globalisation and Employment in South Africa: A Review of the Issues, Paper commissioned by the Department of Labour, May

Michie, Jonathan (1987), Wages in the Business Cycle: An Empirical and Methodological Analysis, Frances Pinter Publisher

Michie, Jonathan (2002), 'Foreign Direct Investment and 'Human Capital Enhancement' in Developing Countries', *Competition & Change*, Volume 6, Number 4, pp. 363-372

Michie, Jonathan and Grieve Smith, John (1996), Creating Industrial Capacity: Towards Full Employment, Oxford University Press

Michie, Jonathan, Oughton, Christine, and Pianta, Mario (2002), 'Innovation and the Economy', *International Review of Applied Economics*, Volume 16, Number 3, pp. 253-264

Michie, Jonathan and Sheehan-Quinn, Maura (2001), 'Labour Market Flexibility, Human Resource Management and Corporate Performance', *British Journal of Management*, Volume 12, Number 4, December, pp. 287-306

Michie, Jonathan and Wilkinson, Frank (1992), 'Inflation Policy and the Restructuring of Labour Markets', in J. Michie (ed.), *The Economic Legacy: 1979-1992*, Academic Press

Nell, K.S. (2000), Is inflation a precondition for faster growth? The case of South Africa, University of Kent, Department of Economics Discussion Paper 00/11: http://www.kent.ac.uk/economics/papers/papers00.html#0011

Padayachee, Vishnu (2001), 'Central Bank Transformation in a Globlized World: The Reserve Bank in Post-Apartheid South Africa', *Journal of International Development*, Volume 13, Issue 6, pp. 741-765

Parkin, Michael and Sumner, Michael T. (eds)(1972), *Incomes Policies and Inflation*, Manchester University Press

Philips, A.W. (1958), 'The Relationship Between Unemployment and the Rate of Change of Money Wages in the UK 1861-1957', *Economica*, Volume 25, November, pp. 283-99



Plenderleith, Ian (2003), 'Is Monetary Policy Different in Africa?', speech to a Symposium on 'Monetary Policy and Uncertainty: Adapting to a Changing Economy', organised by the Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City at Jackson Hole, Wyoming, USA, August 28-30, available at:

www.kc.frb.org/publicat/sympos/2003/pdf/Plenderleith.0911.2003.pdf

Salter, W.E.G. (1969), *Productivity and Technical Change*, 2nd Edition, Cambridge University Press

Sawyer, Malcolm (2001), 'Natural rate of unemployment and NAIRU', in J. Michie (ed.), Reader's Guide to the Social Sciences, Routledge

Setterfield, Mark and Leblond, Kristen (2003), 'The Phillips Curve and US Macroeconomic Performance during the 1990s', *International Review of Applied Economics*, Volume 14, Number 4, October, pp. 361-376

South African Reserve Bank (SARB)(2003), Annual Report 2003, SARB

Standing, G., Sender, J. & Weeks, J. (1996), Restructuring the Labour Market: The South African Challenge, An ILO Country Review, ILO, Geneva

UNCTAD (1999), World Investment Report – Foreign Direct Investment and the Challenge of Development, Geneva: UNCTAD

Wakeford, Jeremy (2003), 'The Productivity-Wage Relationship in South Africa: An Empirical Investigation', paper prepared for the TIPS/DPRU Conference, Johannesburg, September